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       Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 1 of 17 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA TAYLOR ENERGY COMPANY LLC, CIVIL ACTION Plaintiff, NO.: VERSUS SECTION: UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ACTING BY AND THROUGH THE JUDGE: UNITED STATES COAST GUARD, AND THE UNITED STATES COAST GUARD MAGISTRATE: NATIONAL POLLUTION FUNDS CENTER, Defendants COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY JUDGMENT This Complaint for Declaratory Judgment (”Complaint”) by Plaintiff Taylor Energy Company LLC (“Taylor Energy”) against Defendants the United States of America, acting by and through the United States Coast Guard (“Coast Guard”), and the United States Coast Guard National Pollution Funds Center (“NPFC”) (collectively “Defendants”), avers as follows: NATURE OF THE ACTION 1. Taylor Energy seeks a declaratory judgment in connection with the issues raised in the Coast Guard’s counsel’s June 2, 2020 letter demanding that Taylor Energy pay “approximately $43 million in removal costs . . . in response to the oil discharge from Taylor Energy’s oil production facility in the MC-20 Block of the Mississippi Canyon area of the Gulf of Mexico . . . .” Exhibit A at 1 (hereinafter “Demand Letter”). In the Demand Letter, the Coast Guard also claims entitlement to a declaratory judgment for past and future removal costs, damages and civil penalties. Id. at 1-2. {N4030597.1} 1 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 2 of 17 2. This Complaint arises out of the Demand Letter that is directly related to two previously filed actions in this Court which are currently pending. 3. In the first action, Taylor Energy filed a Complaint to Vacate Administrative Order and For Other Relief on December 20, 2018 against the Coast Guard and Captain Kristi M. Luttrell, in her official capacity as Federal On-Scene Coordinator for the MC20 Unified Command. Rec. Doc. 1 (Civil Action No. 18-14046). Taylor Energy is challenging, among other things, the Coast Guard’s issuance of Administrative Order No. 19-001 dated October 23, 2018 (the “Admin. Order”) relating to containment and other activities at the site of Taylor Energy’s platform jacket at Mississippi Canyon Block 20 (the “MC20 Site”). Taylor Energy requests vacatur of the Admin. Order and the actions taken in implementing it, and seeks the imposition of a permanent injunction. This matter is set for trial on the merits during December 2020. 4. In the second action filed on December 20, 2018, which has been consolidated with the first action, Taylor Energy filed a Complaint for Declaratory Judgment and Other Relief against Couvillion Group, LLC (“Couvillion”). Rec. Doc. 1 (Civil Action No. 18-14051). Couvillion is a contractor hired by the Coast Guard to undertake containment and other associated work at the MC20 Site in connection with the MC20 Incident (defined below), allegedly under the auspices of the challenged Admin. Order. In that proceeding, Taylor Energy seeks a declaratory judgment that Couvillion does not have the authority to conduct any activities at the MC20 Site and damages arising from Couvillion’s activities. This matter is also set for trial on the merits during December 2020. {N4030597.1} 2 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 3 of 17 5. The present Complaint is related to and arises out of these two previously filed and pending actions inasmuch as the Demand Letter seeks to hold Taylor Energy responsible for the very activities that Taylor Energy is challenging in the two previous actions. Indeed, the vast majority of the $43 million sought in the Demand Letter is attributable to work undertaken by Couvillion and its subcontractors, allegedly under the authority of the legally invalid Admin. Order. 6. Defendants’ bypassing of the established proceedings, processes, and procedures is an abuse of Taylor Energy’s rights. The Defendants’ actions are in direct violation of the United States Constitution and exceed their authority, statutory and otherwise. PARTIES 7. Plaintiff Taylor Energy, at all material times, was and is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the State of Louisiana, with its principal place of business in New Orleans, Louisiana. Taylor Energy’s only member is Phyllis M. Taylor, a Louisiana resident domiciled in New Orleans, Louisiana. 8. Defendants are the Coast Guard and the NPFC. The Coast Guard is an agency of the United States under the Department of Homeland Security. The NPFC is a unit of the Coast Guard. JURISDICTION AND VENUE 9. This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28 U.S.C. § 1333, 33 U.S.C. § 2717, 43 U.S.C. § 1349, 28 U.S.C. § 2201 and Rule 57 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. {N4030597.1} 3 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 4 of 17 10. Venue is proper in this district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 1391(b), 33 U.S.C. § 2717(b), and 43 U.S.C. § 1349(b)(1) because, among other reasons, it is the judicial district in which “the discharge or injury or damages occurred.” MC20 is on the Outer Continental Shelf within this judicial district. BACKGROUND Taylor Energy and the Coast Guard Cooperated Closely For More Than Ten Years 11. In September of 2004, the storm Hurricane Ivan traveled through the Gulf of Mexico in the direction of the central Gulf Coast. Taylor Energy was the lessee and operator of certain assets in the path of Hurricane Ivan – namely, the MC20A Platform and an OCS lease that included the MC20A Platform, wells and associated facilities at the MC20 Site. Hurricane Ivan’s waves caused a massive progressive seafloor failure that toppled Taylor Energy’s production platform and jacket (the “MC20 Incident”). 12. Taylor Energy immediately notified the appropriate authorities of the loss of the platform and responded to the MC20 Incident. Taylor Energy was designated by the Coast Guard as the “Responsible Party” in accordance with the Oil Pollution Act of 1990 (“OPA”). Pursuant to the National Contingency Plan, Taylor Energy was also designated as a member of the “Unified Command,” along with the Coast Guard, that was established to monitor the MC20 Site and study possible further actions to be taken in connection with the MC20 Incident. 13. For more than a decade, the Coast Guard and Taylor Energy worked cooperatively and {N4030597.1} 4 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 5 of 17 collaboratively under the Unified Command structure, and engaged in comprehensive collaborative scientific studies, assessments and evaluations, including coordination of all response efforts. Indeed, on multiple occasions, the Coast Guard commended Taylor Energy for its cooperation and responsiveness in fulfilling its role as the Responsible Party. 14. Taylor Energy has, and continues to, regularly monitor the site. As directed by the Coast Guard, Taylor Energy conducts regular overflights of the site. To date, Taylor Energy has expended in excess of $485 million in its efforts to address the MC20 Incident. Because of Political Pressure, the Coast Guard Issued the Admin. Order, Contracted with Couvillion, and Began Concealing Information From Taylor Energy 15. On October 22, 2018, the Washington Post published a front page article about the MC20 Incident which was largely inaccurate, one-sided, and designed for shock value. The article led with the sensationalized allegation that “300 to 700 barrels of oil per day have been spewing” into the Gulf of Mexico, which had no support in the established, comprehensive science previously accepted by both the Coast Guard and Taylor Energy. Instead, the article was primarily based on an untested, unverified, non-peer reviewed study by one individual, Oscar Pineda-Garcia (“the Garcia theory”) – a theory which all now concede was essentially junk science. 16. In response to the article, and without any advance notice to Taylor Energy, the next day the Coast Guard issued the Admin. Order. Rec. Doc. 1-3 (Civil Action No. 18-14046). The Admin. Order “ordered” Taylor Energy to “institute a containment system to capture, contain, and remove oil” and that: {N4030597.1} 5 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 6 of 17 The containment system must eliminate the surface sheen and avoid the deficiencies associated with prior containment systems. Design of the containment system shall take into consideration the site conditions provided to you. The containment system shall be designed to contain an amount with a worst case daily discharge between 250 barrels and 700 barrels per day. A design of a minimum of 250 barrels per day is acceptable at this time. Id. at 1-2. See also id. at 14 (also requiring a plan for the “design” of a system to “top-kill the oil and gas plumes” and a timeline to “design, fabricate and deploy this system”). 17. Taylor Energy immediately sought reconsideration of the Admin. Order on October 24, 2018, and pointed out that the Coast Guard had provided Taylor Energy with no information to support the Admin. Order. Nonetheless, the Coast Guard summarily denied Taylor Energy’s request for reconsideration just one day later. 18. The Admin. Order also ordered Taylor Energy to attend a Unified Command meeting on November 6-9, 2018 to evaluate and select a containment and recovery system from six to eight competing proposals. But the Coast Guard declined to provide any information about the bidding contractors or their proposed containment and recovery systems to Taylor Energy. On November 9, 2018, the Coast Guard advised Taylor Energy that it had unilaterally selected Couvillion as the contractor under the Admin. Order. On November 13, 2018, the Coast Guard informed Taylor Energy that it would have 48 hours to execute a “take it or leave it” contract with Couvillion, in which Couvillion insisted on onerous contract terms. Taylor Energy and Couvillion were unable to agree upon a commercially reasonable contract by the short deadline dictated by the Coast Guard. {N4030597.1} 6 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 7 of 17 19. A few days later, on November 16, 2018, the Coast Guard took the almost unprecedented action of issuing a Notice of Federal Assumption (“Notice”) in which the Coast Guard stated that it was partially assuming response actions pertaining “to all activities related to the development and installation of a containment system; removal and disposal of oil collected in the containment system; and maintenance of a containment system at the MC20 Site.” Rec. Doc. 1-4 (Civil Action No. 18-14046). The Coast Guard then accepted Couvillion’s proposal and entered into agreements with Couvillion for work in connection with the MC20 Incident. 20. Over the following year and a half, the Coast Guard has continued to keep Taylor Energy in the dark about work at the MC20 Site, despite Taylor Energy’s repeated requests for information. For example, the Coast Guard sent a very cryptic letter to Taylor Energy on May 16, 2019, claiming that the Couvillion containment system had been installed and “is functioning as designed.” Taylor Energy responded with a plea for information in a May 24, 2019 letter, emphasizing again that it “has been provided virtually no data or information concerning the Coast Guard’s selection of Couvillion, the deployment of the system at MC20, or the performance of the system to date.” Taylor Energy requested basic information about the “design and installation of the containment system,” “[d]etails and specifications of Couvillion’s work,” “[p]lanned or proposed additional activities for the MC20 Site,” and “[t]imelines and plans of presently contemplated additional activities at MC20,” among other items of information. The Coast Guard ignored and continues to ignore this plea. 21. As a more recent example, on March 14, 2020, Taylor Energy’s President sent an email to the Coast Guard. He requested information about Couvillion’s work at the MC20 Site given Taylor {N4030597.1} 7 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 8 of 17 Energy’s continuing response obligations as the Responsible Party for MC20 and because Couvillion’s ongoing activities under the Admin. Order had recently created aberrantly increased oil sheens of hundreds--even thousands--of gallons on the Gulf’s surface, at times showing dark or dull oil on the surface. The Coast Guard responded on March 16, 2020 that Taylor Energy had “no need for any information about the containment system.” 22. Taylor Energy even sent numerous Freedom of Information Act requests to the Coast Guard in an attempt to gain information about the Coast Guard’s and Couvillion’s activities at the MC20 Site and in connection with the MC20 Incident. The Coast Guard has essentially ignored the requests. The Coast Guard Began Sending Bills to Taylor Energy But Refused to Provide Meaningful Backup 23. Beginning in July 2019 and continuing into 2020, at the same time it was refusing to provide Taylor Energy with any meaningful information about ongoing and planned MC20 activities, the Coast Guard began sending generalized NPFC bills to Taylor Energy for millions of dollars in removal costs allegedly incurred in connection with the MC20 Incident. The overwhelming portion of these bills relate to “CG Contract” ($26,286,067.77 on the July 10, 2019 bill and $10,971,184.27 on the March 13, 2020 bill). The bills contained little or no supporting data or information to justify the huge expenses being incurred as a part of the Coast Guard’s MC20 response. Taylor Energy assumes the “CG Contract” is with Couvillion. 24. Taylor Energy repeatedly requested, albeit unsuccessfully, that the Coast Guard provide Taylor Energy with sufficient backup information to support the billings. {N4030597.1} 8 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 9 of 17 25. The following are just a few examples of the deficiencies with the NPFC bills sent to Taylor Energy: a. Defendants did not provide documents showing that any payments were actually made to contractors, vendors, subcontractors, suppliers, Coast Guard personnel and other agencies. In particular, the documentation provided by the Defendants is devoid of any evidence that Couvillion was actually paid and/or that Couvillion actually paid subcontractors, consultants, suppliers, and vendors. b. As part of its work at the MC20 Site, Couvillion has been selling oil collected at the site, and those sales should offset a portion of the removal costs allegedly owed. Defendants have refused to supply Taylor Energy with any documentation regarding these offsetting sales. c. Defendants have refused to supply Taylor Energy with any evidence that the oil being collected as part of the response operation is actually oil sourced to the Taylor Energy wells at the MC20 Site. Indeed, Taylor Energy disputes this issue, and Taylor Energy’s position is supported by substantial scientific analysis including samples of oil collected by Couvillion not matching the historical fingerprint of Taylor Energy’s MC20 oil. d. The billings for the removal costs improperly include substantial sums for damage caused by third parties, including the Coast Guard’s own contractor, Couvillion. As noted above, Couvillion’s actions at the MC20 Site have caused significant increases in sheens on the Gulf’s surface. e. According to the Coast Guard, the NPFC billings to Taylor Energy should not include any amounts relating to well intervention or plug and abandonment activity. However, the limited support sent to Taylor Energy by the NPFC clearly includes such amounts. {N4030597.1} 9 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 10 of 17 f. The bills include grossly exaggerated and materially suspect sums. Couvillion’s proposal, which the Coast Guard accepted, indicated that the MC20 work would cost, including substantial contingencies, approximately $3 million. Yet, incredibly, Couvillion’s bills have mushroomed to many multiples of the original bid – to approximately $40 million – demonstrating that the Coast Guard is not properly monitoring or controlling Couvillion’s actions. g. The Coast Guard is allowing Couvillion to charge a twenty percent (20%) administrative fee or markup on top of the work that it is performing, and in addition, it is apparently allowing Couvillion’s subcontractors to charge similar markups. In other words, a substantial portion of the bills are not actual work, but rather just markups on top of markups which is completely unjustified. The Coast Guard’s Counsel’s Deficient Demand Letter 26. On June 2, 2020, the Coast Guard, through counsel, sent the Demand Letter – entitled a “Pre-filing Notice of Claims” – to Taylor Energy’s counsel in another proceeding, not to Taylor Energy. Exhibit A. 27. The Demand Letter stated that the Coast Guard “is prepared to file claims” against Taylor Energy “related to the ongoing discharge of oil from the area leased and involving the oil and gas production facility owned and operated by Taylor Energy in the Gulf of Mexico.” Id. at 1. 28. In addition, the Demand Letter stated that the Coast Guard “will seek” in litigation:  The recovery of approximately $43 million in removal costs paid by the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund (the “Fund”), administered by the Coast Guard’s National Pollution Funds Center, in response to the oil discharge from Taylor Energy’s oil production facility in the MC-20 Block of the Mississippi {N4030597.1} 10 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 11 of 17 Canyon area of the Gulf of Mexico, from Taylor Energy as a responsible party under Section 1002(a) of the Oil Pollution Act (“OPA”), 33 U.S.C. § 2702(a), and as an owner or operator of an Outer Continental Shelf facility under OPA Section 1004(c)(3), 33 U.S.C. § 2704(c)(3);  A declaratory judgment, under the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a), the OPA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 2702(a), 2704(c)(3), 2705, and 2717(f)(2), and the Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1321(f)(4) & (5), against Taylor Energy for all removal costs and damages, including natural resource damages, to be incurred in this action and in any subsequent action or actions; and  Civil penalties, under Section 311(b)(7) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7), against Taylor Energy of up to $48,192 per day of violation or $2,100 per barrel of oil that has been discharged; or at least $192,768 per day or up to $5,783 per barrel of oil that has been discharged, to the extent that the discharge of oil was the result of gross negligence or willful misconduct by Taylor Energy. Exhibit A at 1-2. 29. As is evident from the Demand Letter, the Coast Guard apparently submitted its bills to the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund (“OSLTF”) for payment, and the OSLTF apparently paid Couvillion, before presenting them to Taylor Energy as the Responsible Party, in violation of 33 U.S.C. § 2713. 30. The Demand Letter also failed to acknowledge that the demand for payment was preempted by, or was at least premature because of, other ongoing proceedings that control whether Taylor Energy owes any sums to Defendants, and if so, how much. By way of example: a. As noted above, two consolidated actions are already pending in this district relating to the validity of the Admin. Order and the MC20 activities undertaken by Couvillion on behalf of the Coast Guard. Civil Action Nos. 18-14046 and 18-14051 (E.D. La.). Inasmuch as {N4030597.1} 11 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 12 of 17 the $43 million sought in the Demand Letter is tied directly to the Admin. Order and Couvillion’s alleged work and billings, the issues raised in the Coast Guard’s Demand Letter cannot be addressed without first resolving the subject matter asserted in the two consolidated cases already pending in this district. b. Under OPA, the Responsible Party has a statutory defense to any liability to the extent the removal costs are a result of an “act of God” as defined in OPA. See 33 U.S.C. §§ 2701(1), 2703, 2708(b), 2713(b)(1)(B). This very issue – whether Taylor Energy is entitled to invoke the act of God defense under OPA – is currently the subject of another proceeding that is ongoing. See Taylor Energy Company LLC v. United States of America, Civil Action No. 20- 01086 (D.D.C.). c. In the Demand Letter, Defendants claim they are entitled to a declaratory judgment against Taylor Energy for all damages, including “natural resource damages.” Exhibit A at 2. Yet, the “natural resource damages,” if any, are themselves the subject of a separate process, the Natural Resource Damages Assessment (“NRDA”) Process being administered by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (“NOAA”). This NRDA process has been pending for over four years since late 2015. NOAA has represented to Taylor Energy that that process is still at the preliminary assessment stage, meaning it is ongoing. 31. The Demand Letter concluded by inviting Taylor Energy to a settlement meeting if it was interested in “resolving the matter short of litigation.” Id. at 2. Taylor Energy promptly accepted this invitation with the expectation of an in person, substantive discussion. 32. However, the Coast Guard refused to meet with Taylor Energy in person. As a result, on June 15, 2020, the parties met by Zoom conference for the purpose of trying to resolve their {N4030597.1} 12 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 13 of 17 differences, but they were unable to do so. As a result, Taylor Energy was left with no choice but to file this action. CAUSE OF ACTION Count I – Declaratory Judgment 33. Taylor Energy incorporates by reference the preceding paragraphs of the Complaint and the details set forth in the documents referenced in and attached to the Complaint. 34. In accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 2201, et seq., Taylor Energy is entitled to a declaratory judgment to determine its rights and responsibilities, if any, in connection with the issues raised in or related to the Coast Guard’s Demand Letter. 35. Taylor Energy seeks a declaratory judgment that it does not owe any sums to Defendants, for removal costs, penalties, damages or otherwise, and that Defendants are not entitled to the declaratory judgment they seek in the Demand Letter or any other relief. 36. In the alternative, and reserving any and all rights to challenge and object to any removal costs, penalties, damages or other relief sought by Defendants, Taylor Energy seeks a declaratory judgment: a. that it is not obligated to pay any of those sums at this juncture until proper and sufficient justification and backup documentation is provided to Taylor Energy and/or until all other pending litigation, proceedings or processes relating to the issues in the Demand Letter are fully resolved; and {N4030597.1} 13 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 14 of 17 b. that Defendants’ attempts to pursue any relief outlined in the Demand Letter should be stayed until such circumstances occur. 37. In the further alternative, and reserving any and all rights to challenge and object to any removal costs, penalties, damages or other relief sought by Defendants, Taylor Energy seeks a declaratory judgment that any amounts for which it is responsible are less than demanded by Defendants. 38. Taylor Energy also seeks a declaratory judgment that the Defendants’, and their officers’, actions described above and below constitute a violation of Taylor Energy’s procedural and substantive due process rights and constitute actions beyond and in violation of any statutory or other legal authority. These actions include, but are not limited to: continuing to take unconstitutional and illegal actions that arise out of the issues addressed in the two prior lawsuits filed on these issues in this district; concealing information from Taylor Energy about work at the MC20 Site, the expenses being incurred in connection therewith, and the process and criteria by which Defendants, or others, are making determinations about the expenditures for which Taylor Energy is allegedly responsible; negligently and recklessly incurring inappropriate and excessive removal costs; depriving Taylor Energy of the right to meaningfully defend its interests; taking actions without consulting or notifying Taylor Energy; improperly attempting to pursue these amounts from Taylor Energy; threatening to sue Taylor Energy when the underlying issues are already the subject of prior, pending proceedings; and bypassing the established proceedings, processes, and procedures relating to the issues in the Demand Letter and this Complaint. {N4030597.1} 14 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 15 of 17 39. Indeed, these actions, have been improper, negligent, grossly negligent, willfully reckless, arbitrary and capricious, an abuse of discretion, and are an abuse of rights. 40. The facts set forth throughout this Complaint demonstrate Taylor Energy’s entitlement to a declaratory judgment, and the following is an illustrative summary: a. Taylor Energy is not liable for any removal costs, penalties or damages because the Admin. Order and Couvillion’s activities, which form the basis for the billings, are invalid and improper as a matter of law, all as set forth in other litigation pending in this district. b. The removal costs were unnecessarily incurred, and thus are unjustified, because the comprehensive consensus science established that no further activities should be undertaken at this time at the MC20 Site and would only make matters worse, which has in fact occurred. c. Any oil that has been collected at the MC20 Site by the Coast Guard and/or Couvillion is not oil sourced to the Taylor Energy wells at MC20. d. Taylor Energy does not owe any removal costs inasmuch as Taylor Energy is entitled to an act of God defense under OPA, as set forth in other litigation. e. Taylor Energy is not liable for any natural resource damages, as such determination is the subject of the ongoing NRDA Process. f. The Demand Letter sent to Taylor Energy by the Defendants is legally deficient. The letter was sent to Taylor Energy’s counsel in other litigation, not to Taylor Energy. In addition, the Demand Letter violates 33 U.S.C. § 2713(a), among other provisions, because the Coast Guard did not present the bills at issue to Taylor Energy as the Responsible Party before submitting them to the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund for payment. {N4030597.1} 15 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 16 of 17 g. The Coast Guard has not supplied Taylor Energy with sufficient backup or supporting information to justify the amounts it seeks in the Demand Letter. h. The Coast Guard has not provided Taylor Energy with information regarding the sale of oil by Couvillion, which offsets any amounts allegedly owed. i. Taylor Energy is not liable for expenses relating to the ongoing improper acts by the Coast Guard and Couvillion which have resulted in substantially increased and excessive removal costs. j. As the Coast Guard has notified Taylor Energy, Taylor Energy is not liable for well intervention and plug and abandonment activities that are contained in the bills. k. The bills include exaggerated and excessive sums for which Taylor Energy should not be responsible. l. Taylor Energy has done nothing to trigger any penalty provisions, and Taylor Energy certainly has not been grossly negligent or engaged in any willful misconduct. The removal costs were as a result of an act of God event. JURY DEMAND 41. Taylor Energy requests a trial by jury on all issues. PRAYER FOR RELIEF WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Taylor Energy Company LLC prays that the foregoing Complaint for Declaratory Judgment be deemed good and sufficient, and that after due proceedings have been had, the Court grant judgment in favor of Plaintiff Taylor Energy Company LLC and against Defendants the United States of America, acting by and through the United States Coast Guard, and the United States Coast Guard National Pollution Funds Center, for a declaratory judgment as sought in the foregoing Complaint for Declaratory Judgment, and for any and all other legal and {N4030597.1} 16 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 17 of 17 equitable relief to which Taylor Energy Company LLC may be entitled and as the Court may deem appropriate, including, but not limited to, costs, expenses, and reasonable attorney’s fees. Dated this 15th day of June, 2020. Respectfully submitted, s/ Carl D. Rosenblum CARL D. ROSENBLUM, T.A. (#02083) THOMAS A. CASEY, JR. (#01291) ALIDA C. HAINKEL (#24114) LAUREN C. MASTIO (#33077) TAYLOR K. WIMBERLY (#38942) Jones Walker LLP 201 St. Charles Avenue, 49th Floor New Orleans, Louisiana 70170-5100 Telephone: (504) 582-8000 Facsimile: (504) 589-8296 crosenblum@joneswalker.com Counsel for Taylor Energy Company LLC, Plaintiff {N4030597.1} 17 Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1-1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 1 of 2 JS 44 (Rev. 06/17) CIVIL COVER SHEET The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.) I. (a) PLAINTIFFS DEFENDANTS TAYLOR ENERGY COMPANY LLC UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ACTING BY AND THROUGH THE UNITED STATES COAST GUARD, AND THE UNITED STATES COAST GUARD NATIONAL POLLUTION FUNDS CENTER (b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Orleans County of Residence of First Listed Defendant (EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED. (c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Attorneys (If Known) Carl D. Rosenblum (#02083)/Thomas A. Casey, Jr. (#01291)/Alida C. Hainkel (#24114)/Lauren C. Mastio (#33077)/Taylor K. Wimberly (#38942), Jones Walker LLP, 201 St. Charles Avenue, 49th FI., New Orleans, LA 70170 (504) 582-8296 II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only) III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff (For Diversity Cases Only) and One Box for Defendant) " 1 U.S. Government " 3 Federal Question PTF DEF PTF DEF Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State " 1 " 1 Incorporated or Principal Place " 4 " 4 of Business In This State " 2 U.S. Government " 4 Diversity Citizen of Another State " 2 " 2 Incorporated and Principal Place " 5 " 5 Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III) of Business In Another State Citizen or Subject of a " 3 " 3 Foreign Nation " 6 " 6 Foreign Country IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions. CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES " 110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY " 625 Drug Related Seizure " 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 " 375 False Claims Act " 120 Marine " 310 Airplane " 365 Personal Injury - of Property 21 USC 881 " 423 Withdrawal " 376 Qui Tam (31 USC " 130 Miller Act " 315 Airplane Product Product Liability " 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a)) " 140 Negotiable Instrument Liability " 367 Health Care/ " 400 State Reapportionment " 150 Recovery of Overpayment " 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS " 410 Antitrust & Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury " 820 Copyrights " 430 Banks and Banking " 151 Medicare Act " 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability " 830 Patent " 450 Commerce " 152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability " 368 Asbestos Personal " 835 Patent - Abbreviated " 460 Deportation Student Loans " 340 Marine Injury Product New Drug Application " 470 Racketeer Influenced and (Excludes Veterans) " 345 Marine Product Liability " 840 Trademark Corrupt Organizations " 153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY LABOR SOCIAL SECURITY " 480 Consumer Credit of Veteran’s Benefits " 350 Motor Vehicle " 370 Other Fraud " 710 Fair Labor Standards " 861 HIA (1395ff) " 490 Cable/Sat TV " 160 Stockholders’ Suits " 355 Motor Vehicle " 371 Truth in Lending Act " 862 Black Lung (923) " 850 Securities/Commodities/ " 190 Other Contract Product Liability " 380 Other Personal " 720 Labor/Management " 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) Exchange " 195 Contract Product Liability " 360 Other Personal Property Damage Relations " 864 SSID Title XVI " 890 Other Statutory Actions " 196 Franchise Injury " 385 Property Damage " 740 Railway Labor Act " 865 RSI (405(g)) " 891 Agricultural Acts " 362 Personal Injury - Product Liability " 751 Family and Medical " 893 Environmental Matters Medical Malpractice Leave Act " 895 Freedom of Information REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS " 790 Other Labor Litigation FEDERAL TAX SUITS Act " 210 Land Condemnation " 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: " 791 Employee Retirement " 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff " 896 Arbitration " 220 Foreclosure " 441 Voting " 463 Alien Detainee Income Security Act or Defendant) " 899 Administrative Procedure " 230 Rent Lease & Ejectment " 442 Employment " 510 Motions to Vacate " 871 IRS—Third Party Act/Review or Appeal of " 240 Torts to Land " 443 Housing/ Sentence 26 USC 7609 Agency Decision " 245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations " 530 General " 950 Constitutionality of " 290 All Other Real Property " 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - " 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION State Statutes Employment Other: " 462 Naturalization Application " 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - " 540 Mandamus & Other " 465 Other Immigration Other " 550 Civil Rights Actions " 448 Education " 555 Prison Condition " 560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of Confinement V. ORIGIN (Place an “X” in One Box Only) " 1 Original " 2 Removed from " 3 Remanded from " 4 Reinstated or " 5 Transferred from " 6 Multidistrict " 8 Multidistrict Proceeding State Court Appellate Court Reopened Another District Litigation - Litigation - (specify) Transfer Direct File Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity): 28 U.S.C. §1331, 28 U.S.C. §1333, 33 U.S.C. §2717, 43 U.S.C. §1349, 28 U.S.C. §2201 VI. CAUSE OF ACTION Brief description of cause: Complaint for Declaratory Judgment related to issues raised in certain letter demanding removal costs VII. REQUESTED IN " CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint: COMPLAINT: UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. DECLARATORY JUDGMENT JURY DEMAND: " Yes " No VIII. RELATED CASE(S) (See instructions): IF ANY JUDGE Greg Gerard Guidry DOCKET NUMBER 18-14046 c/w 18-14051 DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD 06/15/2020 /s/ Carl D. Rosenblum FOR OFFICE USE ONLY RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1-1 Filed 06/15/20 Page 2 of 2 JS 44 Reverse (Rev. 06/17) INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44 Authority For Civil Cover Sheet The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows: I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants. Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then the official, giving both name and title. (b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.) (c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting in this section "(see attachment)". II. Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below. United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box. Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked. Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity cases.) III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this section for each principal party. IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions. V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes. Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts. Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. When the petition for removal is granted, check this box. Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing date. Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or multidistrict litigation transfers. Multidistrict Litigation – Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407. Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket. PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to changes in statue. VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity. Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction. Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded. VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases. Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet. Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1-2 Filed 06/15/20 Page 1 of 2 U.S. Department of Justice Environment and Natural Resources Division Environmental Enforcement Section 90-5-1-1-11008/2 P.O. Box 7611 Telephone (202) 514-3211 Washington, D.C. 20044 June 2, 2020 Alida C. Hainkel Carl D. Rosenblum Lauren C. Mastio Taylor Katherine Wimberly JONES WALKER LLP 201 St. Charles Avenue, 49th Floor New Orleans, LA 70170 ahainkel@joneswalker.com crosenblum@joneswalker.com lmastio@joneswalker.com twimberly@joneswalker.com Nicholas Martin DePalma VENABLE LLP 8010 Towers Crescent Drive Suite 300 Tysons Corner, VA 22182-2707 nmdepalma@venable.com Sent via email and Federal Express Re: Pre-filing Notice of Claims against Taylor Energy Company, LLC regarding Oil Pollution Act and Clean Water Act Dear Counsel: This letter is to notify you that the U.S. Department of Justice is prepared to file claims on behalf of the United States Coast Guard (“Coast Guard”) against Taylor Energy Company, LLC (“Taylor Energy”) related to the ongoing discharge of oil from the area leased and involving the oil and gas production facility owned and operated by Taylor Energy in the Gulf of Mexico. The discharge began in September 2004, when Hurricane Ivan passed through the Gulf of Mexico and the oil and gas production facility collapsed and sank. The United States will seek: • The recovery of approximately $43 million in removal costs paid by the Oil Spill Liability Trust Fund (the “Fund”), administered by the Coast Guard’s National Pollution Funds Center, in response to the oil discharge from Taylor Energy’s oil production facility in the MC-20 Block of the Mississippi Canyon area of the Gulf of Mexico, from Taylor Energy as a responsible party under Section 1002(a) of the Oil Pollution Act (“OPA”), 33 U.S.C. § 2702(a), and as an owner or operator of an Outer Continental Shelf facility under OPA Section 1004(c)(3), 33 U.S.C. § 2704(c)(3); EXHIBIT A Case 2:20-cv-01720-WBV-KWR Document 1-2 Filed 06/15/20 Page 2 of 2 • A declaratory judgment, under the Declaratory Judgment Act, 28 U.S.C. § 2201(a), the OPA, 33 U.S.C. §§ 2702(a), 2704(c)(3), 2705, and 2717(f)(2), and the Clean Water Act (“CWA”), 33 U.S.C. § 1321(f)(4) & (5), against Taylor Energy for all removal costs and damages, including natural resource damages, to be incurred in this action and in any subsequent action or actions; and • Civil penalties, under Section 311(b)(7) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(7), against Taylor Energy of up to $48,192 per day of violation or $2,100 per barrel of oil that has been discharged; or at least $192,768 per day or up to $5,783 per barrel of oil that has been discharged, to the extent that the discharge of oil was the result of gross negligence or willful misconduct by Taylor Energy. Before filing these claims, we are extending to you the opportunity to discuss settlement. We are seeking, in settlement of this matter, reimbursement of all costs of removal incurred by the Fund, a commitment to pay future removal costs and damages incurred by the Fund, and payment of an appropriate civil penalty, which takes into account the factors listed in Section 311(b)(8) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1321(b)(8), including a gravity component appropriate under all the facts and circumstances of the case. If you are interested in resolving this matter short of litigation, please contact me promptly and we can arrange a meeting. Sincerely, /s/ R. Shea Diaz . R. Shea Diaz Richard M. Gladstein Scott Cernich Mark Elmer Samantha Ricci Environmental Enforcement Section Environment and Natural Resources Division United States Department of Justice P.O. Box 7611 Washington, D.C. 20044 (202) 514-3211 rebecca.diaz@usdoj.gov cc: Patricia V. Kingcade Heather S. Kennealy Attorney Advisors U.S. Coast Guard 2703 Martin Luther King Jr. Ave. Stop 7213 Washington, DC 20593-7213 -2- 
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